
CABINET OVERVIEW WORKING GROUP 
Thursday, 10 March 2016 at 7.30 pm 

 
 

AGENDA 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
 To receive any apologies for absence from Councillors. 

 
2. Declarations of Interest   
 
 To receive Councillors’ declarations of interest (if any) in relation to any 

matters on the agenda. 
 

3. Minutes  (Pages 2 - 4) 
 
 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 11 February 2016. 

 
4. Matters arising   
 
 Any matters arising from the minutes of the previous meeting. 

 
5. Review of Council Housing Empty Property Management  (Pages 5 - 18) 
 
6. Review of Financial Sustainability of Pets Corner (Scoping Report)  

(Pages 19 - 22) 
 
7. Future of the Town Centre (Update and next steps)  (Pages 23 - 27) 
 
8. Work Plan  (Page 28) 
 
 To review the Overview Working Group’s work plan for the current year. 

 
9. Matters of Urgent Business   
 
 Such other business which, in the opinion of the Chairman, should be 

received as a matter of urgency by reason of special circumstances to be 
specified in the minutes. 
 

Public Document Pack



 

MINUTES OF THE CABINET OVERVIEW WORKING GROUP 
HELD ON 

 
11 February 2016 7.30  - 8.28 pm 
 
 
PRESENT 
 
Overview Working Group Members 
Councillor Ian Beckett (Chair) 
Councillor Maggie Hulcoop (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor David Carter 
Councillor Simon Carter 
Councillor Clive Souter 
Councillor John Strachan 
 
 
Officers 
Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
Scott Ramsey, Playhouse General Manager 
Christine Selby, Youth and Citizenship Manager 
Lisa Purse, Corporate and Governance Support Officer 
 

 
 
31. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
None. 
 

32. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
None. 
 

33. MINUTES  
 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 26 November 
2016 be agreed as a correct record. 

 
34. MATTERS ARISING  

 
None. 
 

35. REVIEW OF SUSTAINABILITY OF HARLOW PLAYHOUSE THEATRE  
 
The Chairman introduced the Review of Sustainability of Harlow 
Playhouse report and gave an overview of the work carried out by the 
Playhouse Working Group. 
 
The Overview Working Group and Officers discussed the number and 
types of Operators that had been consulted during the preparation of the 

2

Agenda Item 3



report. It was explained that one of the benefits of the building is its many 
subsidiary spaces and that an interested Operator may introduce food and 
hospitality.  
 
Scott Ramsey, Playhouse Manager, shared feedback from other Theatre 
Managers that had experience of a process of inviting expressions of 
interest from potential operators. 
 
Thanks were expressed to Scott for his commitment to the Playhouse and 
to Harlow.  
 
RESOLVED that the Overview Working Group: 
 
A  notes the progress made by the Playhouse Working Group. 
 
B    recommends to Cabinet that the current subsidy for the Playhouse 

of £491,000 per annum is maintained, as indicated until 2018/19. 
 
C  recommends to Cabinet that the Council seeks expressions of 

interest and invites potential operators with a view to reduce the 
ongoing funding required from the Council. 

 
D  asked Cabinet to note The Overview Working Group’s opinion that 

funding of some scale will almost certainly be required beyond 
2018/19, albeit in a potentially diminishing level. 

 
E  asked Cabinet to note that the viability of any future operating 

model will be dependent on the three year Capital Plan being 
implemented. 

 
36. SAFEGUARDING REPORTING PROCEDURE  

 
Christine Selby, Youth and Citizenship Manager/Designated Safeguarding 
Officer, introduced the report which outlined the Council’s Child and 
Vulnerable Adult Safeguarding Policy and procedure for recording and 
reporting safeguarding concerns in respect of children and vulnerable 
adults.  Christine advised that the policy and procedure is due to be 
updated in March 2016 to reflect the current Safeguarding Agenda; recent 
changes to referral pathways in Essex and recent changes to Government 
legislation. 
 
The Overview Working Group discussed Disclosure and Barring Service 
(DBS) checks and whether Councillors should have one in their official 
capacity. 
 
The Overview Working Group expressed that they had been reassured 
that the Council had taken steps to record and report safeguarding 
concerns. 
 
 

3



 
RESOLVED that: 
 
i) the Overview Working Group noted the Councils Child and 

Vulnerable Adult Safeguarding Policy and Procedure. 
  

ii) the Council’s Child and Vulnerable Adult Safeguarding Policy 
and Procedure (including flowchart) is updated to 
consistently include councillors, employees, volunteers, 
contractors and other workers. 
  

iii) clarification is sought on whether the Council can legally ask 
councillors to have a DBS check. 

 
iv) the provision of Safeguarding e-learning to councillors be 

considered. 
 

37. WORK PLAN  
 
The Overview Working Group received a report that outlined its Work Plan 
for the current year. 
 

RESOLVED that the 2015/16 Work Plan is noted. 
 

38. MATTERS OF URGENT BUSINESS  
 
None. 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 CHAIRMAN OF THE OVERVIEW 
WORKING GROUP 

 

4



REPORT TO: CABINET OVERVIEW WORKING GROUP 
 

DATE: 10 MARCH 2016 
 

TITLE: REVIEW OF COUNCIL HOUSING EMPTY PROPERTY 
MANAGEMENT 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

ANDREW MURRAY, HEAD OF HOUSING (01279) 
446676 
 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER: WENDY MAKEPEACE, AREA MANAGER (01279) 
446342 

 
RECOMMENDED that the Overview Working Group notes the work to date to improve 
empty property management and the proposed actions to further improve performance, 
as explained in paragraphs 19 to 22 of this report. 
 
 
SUMMARY 
 
1. The Overview Working Group terms of reference for this review (copy of the scoping 

report attached at Appendix A) was to consider and make recommendations on how 
the Council’s objectives for Council owned empty property management should be 
pursued within the reducing resources available to the Council, in order to develop 
any learning. 

 
2. This report identifies the progress, performance, policy issues, and makes 

recommendations on the proposed changes to management processes. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
3. Council empty property management is a key efficiency measure for the Council’s 

Housing Service and, together with other performance indicators, is regularly reported 
to  Cabinet and housing consultative panels. 

 
4. In the past there were concerns raised on performance which included: 

 
a) The total number of properties that were standing empty. 
b) The number that had been empty for over six months. 
c) The average turnaround time for empty properties. 
d) Costs of voids. 

 
WHAT HAS BEEN THE PROGRESS? 
 
5. Significant progress continues to be made in improving void property performance, 

particularly in relation to property turnaround periods, and number of empty properties 

5

Agenda Item 5



in total at any one time.  In 2011/12 the average turnaround time was 31 calendar 
days, and this has reduced to 18 days in 2015/16.  In addition, as at June 2009, the 
average number of empty properties stood at 95, and this has reduced to 50 in 
2015/16.  These reductions and improved performance have been achieved against a 
background of a consistent level of properties becoming void, i.e., volumes of voids 
have been consistently steady (at around 48 per month).  The numbers of properties 
remaining void over nine weeks continues to be a key focus for the service and 
currently five void properties fall into this category.   
 

6. The performance on turnaround time (of ‘keys to keys’) remains challenging because 
of the amount of repairs work required, however, more properties around 130 per 
year are let on a fast track basis, which is a category with a reduced target time. 
 

7. Customer satisfaction and independent validation of both the scope and standards of 
work delivered continues to be monitored.  The lettable standard (see Appendix B) 
and the redecoration scheme performance is monitored through the Housing Property 
Standards Panel on a regular basis.  Individual property inspections are undertaken 
by a Tenant Resident Inspector on a daily basis.  In 2015, Tenant Resident 
Inspectors attended 436 out of a possible 582 as part of a joint handover process with 
Council Officers.  Inspections record whether or not the voids scope of works and 
lettable standards are attained.  Currently 99% of handovers attain both of these 
objectives. 
 

8. The performance of empty properties within the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
has a revenue implication.  The updated HRA Business Plan approved by Cabinet in 
January 2016 has forcasted a reduction in lost revenue for Council-pwned empty 
properties from 0.80% to 0.70% of the total HRA budget.  A 0.1% change in the level 
of voids equates to a saving of £45,000 to the HRA in 2016/17. 
 

9. The charts below set out the year on year trend position on performance and show 
that gradual, sustained and significant improvements have been made for residents 
waiting to be housed/re-housed which, in turn, has contributed towards the Council’s 
priority of tackling housing need. 
 
 

  

6



Void Performance 
 

 
 
 

 
 

7



10. Improvement has been achieved by continuous review, benchmarking, and 
learning from best practice. Specifically: 
 

a) Scope of works reviewed annually to ensure compliant with changes to 
legislation and the lettable standard.  

b) Fast Track criteria reviewed annually together with scope of works to 
ensure lettable standard is achieved and compliant. 

c) Operational procedures reviewed and processes enhanced to increased 
efficiency.  

d) Joint operational meetings regularly review complaints and learning from 
issues identified. 

e) Re-charging scheme in place to ensure that exiting tenants are charged for 
cleaning and repairs, where appropriate.  

f) Enhanced inspection regime involving all Resident Inspectors. 
g) Enhanced procedures for dealing with transfer inspections implemented 

ensuring consistency of the inspection process. 
h) Performance targets allocated to each void dependent on actual condition 

and allied repairs targets. 
i) Enhanced pre-vacation visit regime. 
j) Established a “key safe” system to reduce the lock changes to one, to 

maintain greater control.  The key safe system is recycled and used for all 
empty properties. 

k) Annual review of the redecoration pack. 
l) Introduced target times for all actions and teams involved with the voids 

process to ensure a joined up approach to service delivery. 
m) Library of photographs taken of the property at point of entry and as part of 

the handover inspection process.  Clearly documenting the condition of the 
property entering and exiting the void process. 

 
11. Regular benchmarking also allows the Council to effectively compare performance 

with other housing providers and learn from examples of best practice.  The most 
recent benchmarking analysis indicates the Council’s performance for 2014/15 
compares well to others:  Epping Forest District Council’s average turnaround time 
is 37 days, Basildon District Council’s is 23 days, and Uttlesford District Council 
currently has an average turnaround time of 28 days. 

 
12. The Council operates a Choice Based Lettings (CBL) scheme managed through 

Locata Ltd.  This is a specialist allocations managment company which advertises 
all Councils properties on a weekly basis.  It also manages the bidding process, 
and provides the Council with an list of housing applicants for each propety. 
 

13. Table A illustrates annual performance on the CBL system.  The number of 
properties advertised has reduced due to the requirement for Phase 1 relocations 
on the Briars, Aylets Field and Copshall Close.  These relocations do not realise 
an empty property as these estates are due for demolition as part of the Priority 
Estates regeneration programme.   

8



 
 
Table A  
 

 

Total number of properties advertised 452 

No. of refusals 154 

No. of properties re-advertised (no bids or all bidders refused) 1 

 
 

14. The Council allocations policy is used to prioritise and allocate properties.  
Housing applicants are considered against this policy on a case by case basis.  
The Allocations Policy was reviewed in 2013/14, prioritising the local connection 
criteria.  Processes to support choice based lettings continue to be streamlined to 
make best use of the pre-vacation period.  This is to ensure that, where possible, 
health and safety works, as well as urgent repairs, are undertaken whilst the 
existing tenant is in-situ.   

 
15. There are a number of void properties that are subject to major or capital-funded 

works.  Identification of these properties and their scope of works has been 
streamlined as well as prioritised within the Housing Investment Programme (HIP). 
This is to ensure the void period is kept to a minimum and all works achieve the 
published lettable standard.   

 
16. The objective of the lettable standard is to balance the requirements to achieve a 

minimal turnaround time and a suitable overall condition of the property, ensuring 
statutory/regulatory compliance in line with landlord legislation. The lettable 
standard is outlined in Appendix B. 

  
Use of Resources 
 
17. The current average revenue expenditure for a void property is £1,660 which is a 

slight increase on last year.  Table B outlines the void category cost elements over 
the last two years. The increase in costs is due to the increased number of 
properties requiring major works.  The major works required on void properties are 
mainly to where original works that were identified have been have declined by the 
previous tenant, or are due within the annual scheduled programme of works.  The 
expenditure elements include: 
 

a) Security 
b) Clearance and cleaning costs 
c) Electrical and gas and other safety testing 
d) Repairs elements 
e) Major works elements  
f) Redecoration costs  
g) Other sundry costs. 

 

9



Table B 
 

Year Fast Track Routine Average Cost 

2015/16 £936.05 £1,722.85 £1,664.73 

2014/15 £920.33 £1,579.32 £1,423.58 

 
 

18. Market intelligence regarding tenders for social housing providers indicates a range 
of information about tendered prices.  These are based on the National Housing 
Federation (NHF) schedule of rates.  In general, there is little regional variation 
except for local authorities and housing associations working in London.  But 
beyond the London area, even including areas in the South East and East Anglia, 
there is little provincial regional variation in tendered values on schedule of rates. 
The average benchmarked cost of a void property is £2,200 for carrying out similar 
packages of void works, although each package is different in nature.  
 

DELIVERING CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT 
 

19. Any recommendations for changes in void management should lead to increased 
value for money, more effective resource management, and greater customer 
satisfaction. There are a range of factors that will influence the sustainment of any 
improvement, including: 
 

a) Enhanced IT systems and linkages. 
b) Maintaining and increasing the ratio of “fast track” voids.  
c) Provision of a consistent quality of workmanship.  
d) Ongoing regular review of voids policy and procedures (e.g. void lettable 

standard. 
e) Compliance to relevant legal and housing regulatory requirements. 
f) Continued investment of stock in attaining the Modern Homes Standard. 
g) Taking advantage of best practice.  

 

20. The Council continues to strive for even better value for money, working with the 
current JVCo, developing processes for the new Local Authority Trading Company 
(Harlow Trading Services).  There is opportunity for the Council to review the 
arrangements it is making under the current general reactive repairs contracts, more 
particularly for the procurement of void works. 
 

21. Current contractual arrangements (e.g. fixed prices) for day-to-day revenue-funded 
void works and major or capital funded works such as kitchen and bathroom 
replacements, central heating installation or boiler replacement and rewiring 
properties are expected to be replaced. 
 

22. The Council also continues to review the voids module within the Orchard housing 
management system to ensure processes are current, and the system is used to its 

10



highest functionality.  In addition, the requirement for a specialist customer 
satisfaction survey will be reviewed to support ongoing landlord tenant satisfaction 
surveys. 

 

IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (includes Sustainability) 

None specific. 

Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place 

 

Finance (Includes ICT) 
Empty Properties are a key efficiency measure and create a loss of income to the 
Council.  By managing voids to an acceptable minimum level, rent income is maximised 
and the property more secure with a tenant in occupation. Effective use of ICT helps with 
ensuring efficiencies are realised in front line services, improving the quality of 
information to our customers and internally 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance  

 
Housing 

As outlined in the body of the report.  

Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 

 
Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 

The provision of affordable housing is key to removing barriers to social inclusion and 
measure to speed up the allocation of empty properties will therefore help to promote 
inclusion. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 

 
Governance (includes HR) 
Section 11 of the landlord and tenant act 1985 requires that the Council keeps in repair 
the structure and exterior of properties it lets to secure tenants. Section 11 also requires 
the Council to keep in repair and proper working order the installations in those 
properties for the supply of water, gas, electricity, sanitation, space and water heating 
equipment. The expression “keep into repair” involves an obligation to put the structure 
and exterior into repair if they are not in repair at the commencement of the tenancy.  
Author: Brian Keane, Head of Governance 

 
Appendices 
Appendix A – Scope of review of empty property management 
Appendix B - Lettable Standard for Void Properties 
 
Background Papers 
None 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
Housing Standards Board (HSB) 

11



Choice Based Lettings (CBL) 
National Housing Federation (NHF) 

 

12



APPENDIX A 
 
TERMS OF REFERENCE FOR SCOPING REPORT 
 
Review Topic Review of Council Housing Empty Property 

Management.  
 

Links to the Council’s 
priorities 

This review links to the Corporate Priorities of – 

 More and Better Housing. 

 Sound Resource Management. 

Terms of reference (to 
include the scope of the review) 

 To examine Council housing empty property 
processes (void management) in order 
develop any learning. 

Purpose and objective of the 
review (what the review should 
achieve) 

 To identify if, and if appropriate how, 
processes associated with void 
management can be improved within 
the resources available. 

Methodology/approach 
(methods to be used for 
gathering evidence) 

 Relevant legal and statutory requirements. 

 Officer research, fact finding/desk top 
study. 

 Current policy review (lettable standard). 

 Best practice. 

 Questioning of witnesses. 

 Examination of written evidence. 

 Performance Indicators. 

 Contractor incentivisation approaches. 
Written evidence 
required 

 Current performance management 
processes and reporting. 

 Trends. 

 Benchmarking and best practice. 

 Case studies. 

Potential witnesses  Wendy Makepeace (Area Housing Manager). 

 Karl Carr (Housing Property Services 
Manager). 

 Andrew Murray (Head of Housing). 

 Tenants. 

 Tenant Representatives. 

 Housing Portfolio Holder. Potential Stakeholder involvement 
(who are the stakeholders and how 
will their views be sought) 

 Tenants. 

 Contractors. 

 New housing applicants. 

Site visits (where and when) N/A 

13



Publicity (methods to be used) N/A 

Resources (people, expenditure)  Officer time. 

 Housing Revenue Account Resources. 

Barriers/dangers/risks 
(any weaknesses or potential 
pitfalls in the review) 

 None identified. 

Measures of success 
(how will the success of the 
review be measured) 

 Recommendations for void management, if 
adopted, lead to increased value for money, 
effective resource management, and greater 
customer satisfaction. 

 

  

14



APPENDIX B 
LETTABLE STANDARD FOR VOID PROPERTIES 
 
OBJECTIVES 
 
The objective of the lettable standard is to deliver back into use void properties that 
satisfy the requirement of being habitable, clean and compliant. 
 
Void properties fall into three different time allocated bands of Fast Track, Routine and 
Long Term all of these categories have the same lettable standard applied to ensure 
consistency in relation to the scope of works of vacant properties going through the 
process. 
 
The standard represents the minimum to be achieved and may be amended in special 
circumstances only. 
 
Whilst there is always a need for a fast turnaround time due to demand from the waiting 
list the following guidance applies: 
 

 The standard within the Health and Safety section must always be completed 

prior to letting a property. 

 Other standards must be attained but some work as identified within the main 

scope of works which can be reasonable carried out after the tenant has moved 

in needs to be identified as part of the initial void inspection process and the 

prospective tenant must informed and a firm appointment made in order to 

complete the work. 

 
HEALTH AND SAFETY  
 
Asbestos – An asbestos survey is required before any works commence and any 
recommended urgent removal works must be completed prior to the voids scope of 
works being undertaken. 
 
Services – Each property shall receive full checks on services supplying gas and 
electricity (where present) 
 
A CORGI approved test is to be carried out on all gas services and copy of the CP12 
certificate is to be left on site for the incoming tenant.  The gas check shall be in 
accordance with the current regulation in force at the time of the inspection. 
 
The electrical test shall comply with requirements of the NICEIC inspection standards 
and the minimum works shall be that all work that is classified as Priority 1, in line with 
the current edition at the time of the inspection. 
 
Where not fitted, hard wired smoke alarms will be installed. 

15



 
All existing electrical fittings must be in clean, sound, serviceable condition, with no 
signs of damage.  Special attention must be given to light switches, power points etc. 
The consumer unit must contain a full set of circuit breakers or fuses.  All non- standard 
switches i.e. Dimmers must be replaced with rocker type switches. 
Locks – The property is to have all locks to the front doors renewed and a minimum of 
3 keys supplied. 
 
Windows – All windows are to be checked and missing window locks are to be 
replaced.  Any low level glazing is to be checked and if non- compliant it is to be 
renewed. 
 
Generally- All works identified in line with the voids scope of works and any other 
defects found during the inspection process that could present a risk to health or safety 
of the occupants shall be rectified so that risk is removed. 
 
GENERAL CONDTIONS 
 
KITCHEN 
All cupboards to be checked to confirm operationally sound.  They should be clean and 
tidy and fit for use.  Cooking facilities shall consist of both gas and electric where the 
supply of these services is already present.  Installation of CCP and bayonet fittings to 
be part of the void works.  Facilities for washing machines are to be included where 
appropriate.  Installing sockets switched spurs, washing machine valves and waste 
pipes forms part of this work. 
 
If the kitchen is in poor condition but usable then arrangements are to be made to renew 
the complete kitchen to our modern homes standard once the tenant has moved in.  As 
a guide the following kitchen units should be provided  
 

No of occupants 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

Sink Base  1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 

Cooker Space  600 600 600 600 600 600 600 

Washing Machine  630 630 630 630 630 630 630 

Base Units  1200 1200 1600 1600 1600 2700 2700 

Wall Units- 720mm 1200 1200 1600 1600 1600 2700 2700 

Ancillary equipment     600 600 1200 1200 

Worktop space  1830 1830 2230 2230 2830 3930 4530 

Fridge/freezer 
space 

600 600 600 600 600 600 600 

Broom cupboard  600 600 600 600 600 600 600 

 

16



The above is purely a guideline, the combination of which may vary dependent upon the 
existing kitchen layout. Wherever possible the minimum space requirements must allow 
for a 630mm washing machine space, 600mm fridge/freezer space and a 600mm 
cooker space. 
 
A minimum of two courses of white 150 x150 mm glazed tiles shall be provided around 
to the splash-backs to worktops sinks. 
 
BATHROOMS 
Wash hand basins, toilets, bath and any other sanitary ware are to be fully operational, 
plugs, chains and toilet seats are to be checked and replaced if necessary.  All to be 
thoroughly cleaned in line with the lettable standard as set out below. 
 
A minimum of two courses of white 150 x150 mm glazed tiles shall be provided around 
the perimeter of the bath and splash-backs to the wash hand basins. 
 
BUILDING FABRIC 
Floors, walls and ceilings shall be checked for significant defects.  Where identified, 
these defects shall be repaired whilst void, if by leaving them this would cause 
unreasonable disruption to the new occupants.  The home must be ready to receive 
decoration but only in terms of condition and not taste.  The plaster to the walls and 
ceilings must be sound and serviceable so that the incoming tenant can fill minor cracks 
and decorate. 
 
CLEANING AND CLEARANCE 
All rubbish to be removed from the property including lofts, sheds, outhouses, gardens 
and garages front and rear where appropriate. 

 
1. Sanitary Ware 

All sanitary ware, to be cleaned thoroughly, clean sanitary ware using a proprietary 
material: De-scale where required as follows: 

 W.C and seal to be applied  

 Wash hand basin 

 Bath 

 Sinks 
 
2. Air Fresheners  

Provide two solid air fresheners per void property to be placed in the kitchen and 
Bathroom. 

 
3. Floors – hard surface 

Wash and scrub all hard surface floors – i.e. tiling, vinyl, laminate using 
disinfectant. 

 
4. Floorboards 

Sweep or vacuum, bag and remove dust/dirt. 

17



 
5. Paintwork 

Wash down all gloss paintwork – skirting /architrave/internal doors. 
 
6. Windows – Internal  

Clean all windows internally  
 
7. Glass exterior door  

Where the front/side/back door has glass in-situ clean interior and exterior glass. 
 
8. Kitchen cupboards/work surface  

Wash down and scrub to remove dirt, grime and stains from kitchen base and wall 
units including all work tops with proprietary materials. 

9. Tiles 
Wash down tiles – remove mould from tiles and grouting around baths using 
proprietary materials. 

 
10. Cobwebs 

Remove all cobwebs throughout the void property 
 
11. Exceptionally/ / Environmentally dirty voids   

Void team to be advised and environmental clean undertaken and cleaned to the 
standard as detailed above. 

 
12. Infestation 

Work to cease – Works Void Team and Housing teams to be informed. 
 
13. External  

All ponds, water features, etc. in rear gardens to be removed, the ground filled with 
topsoil and made good.  All green houses are to be dismantled and removed.  
Concrete bases to remain unless it is felt they pose a health and safety risk. 

 

18



REPORT TO: CABINET OVERVIEW WORKING GROUP 
 

DATE: 10 MARCH 2016 
 

TITLE: SCOPING REPORT FOR REVIEW OF THE 
FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY OF 
PETS’ CORNER 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

JANE GREER, HEAD OF COMMUNITY 
WELLBEING (01279) 446406 
 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER: MAUREEN PEARMAN, COMMUNITY LEISURE 
AND CULTURAL SERVICES MANAGER (01279) 
446095 

 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A The scope for the Review of the Financial Sustainability of Pets’ Corner is agreed 

as set out in this report. 
 
B A working party be established, with terms of reference as set out in Appendix A 

of this report, to examine options and make recommendations for the long term 
financial sustainability of Pets’ Corner. 

 
C Subject to B, three Councillors from the Overview Working Group (two Labour 

Group; one Conservative Group) be appointed to the Pets’ Corner Working Party. 
 
 

Review Topic 
 

Financial future of Pets’ Corner 

Links to the Council’s 
priorities 
 

- Regeneration and a thriving economy 
- Wellbeing and social inclusion 
- Successful children and young people.  
 

Terms of reference (to 
include the scope of the 
review) 
 

To examine options and make recommendations for 
the long term financial sustainability of Pets’ Corner. 

Purpose and objective of 
the review (what the 
review should achieve) 
 

To present recommendations to Cabinet on whether 
the current funding to Pets’ Corner will be required in 
future, and if so, for how long and at what level of 
funding, taking into account whether significant 
alternative funding opportunities exist and should be 
pursued. 
 
Review current income streams and consider 
opportunities for further savings and partnership 
working. 
 

Methodology/approach Analysis of: 

19

Agenda Item 6



(methods to be used for 
gathering evidence) 
 

 
- Visitor numbers  
- Stakeholders  
- Income targets 
- Pets’ Corner Business plan 
- Zoo licence 
- Heritage Lottery Fund improvements 
- Green Flag status 
- Condition report  
- Medium Term Financial Plan 
 

Written evidence required 
 

As above 

Potential witnesses 
 

Jane Greer – Head of Community Wellbeing 
Maureen Pearman – Community, Leisure and 
Cultural Services Manager 
Justin Hopwood – Pets’ Corner Manager 
 

Potential Stakeholder 
involvement (who are the 
stakeholders and how will 
their views be sought) 
 

Stakeholders include: 
- Writtle College 
- Friends of Pets’ Corner 
- Harlow Education Consortium (HEC)  
- Pets’ Corner users 
- Dedicated working party 
 

Site visits (where and 
when) 
 

Establish dedicated working party.   

Publicity (methods to be 
used) 
 

No specific publicity is required. 

Resources (people, 
expenditure) 
 

Officer time. 
 

Barriers/dangers/risks 
(any weaknesses or 
potential pitfalls in the 
review) 
 

Capacity of Officers to support the review, external 
agencies’ capacity and willingness to engage in the 
review. 
 
 

Measures of success (how 
will the success of the 
review be measured) 
 

Identification of the key financial challenges Pets’ 
Corner is facing, and pragmatic recommendations to 
ensure its long term financial sustainability. 
 

 

20



 

 

 
APPENDIX A 

 
 
DRAFT Terms of Reference for the Pets Corner Working Party    
 
The purpose of the Working Party is to examine options and make 
recommendations for the long term financial sustainability of the Pets Corner.   
 
The Working Party will report back to Overview Working Group, who will then 
make recommendation to Cabinet on whether the current subsidy to the Pets 
Corner will be required and if so, for how long and at what level of funding.  
This will take into account whether alternative funding arrangements exist and 
should be pursued and whether other income generation initiatives should be 
considered. 
 
1. The Working Party objectives 
 

1.1 Review the findings of evidence gathered during the review at set out 
in the scoping report. 

1.2 Undertake an options appraisal to identify benefits and risks for the 
Council by way of discussions with relevant external organisations. 

1.3 Make recommendations to the Overview Working Group  on the 
preferred option/s for the financial future of Harlow Pets Corner  

1.4 Carry out consultation with staff and key stakeholder groups to 
identify concerns, issues and aspirations 

 
2. Membership 
 

2.1 The Working Party will comprise three Councillors drawn from 
members of the Overview Working Group on a politically 
proportionate basis,  

2.2 Substitute arrangements will not apply. 
 
The Working Party will be supported by: 
2.3 Head of  Community Wellbeing  
2.4 Community, Leisure and Cultural Services Manager.  
2.5 Pets Corner Manager.  
2.6 The Working Party will extend to other Officers subject to topics and 

issues. 
 
3.  Working Arrangement 

 
3.1 The Working Party will meet every month or more frequently if 

required. 
3.2 Meetings of the Working Party will not be open to the public due to 

commercial sensitivity of the information likely to be considered. 
3.3 The Chair of Overview Working Group will Chair the Working Party.  
3.4 The agenda, reports and minutes to be circulated to members prior to 

the meeting.  

21



 

 

3.5 Ad hoc extraordinary meetings will be convened if required. 
3.6 The Working Party will conclude its review and be dissolved by July 

2016, by which time a final report will be prepared for consideration by 
the Overview Working Group. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

22



REPORT TO: OVERVIEW WORKING GROUP 
 

DATE: 10 MARCH 2016 
 

TITLE: REVITILISING HARLOW TOWN CENTRE 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

JANE GREER, HEAD OF COMMUNITY 
WELLBEING (01279) 446406 
 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER: DAVID SELLINGS, TOWN CENTRE 
DEVELOPMENT COORDINATOR (01279) 
446487 

 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A The Overview Working Group consider whether there is further added value, 

through research and guidance, that it can provide in addition to the existing 
work being carried out by the cross-party working group and Council Officers. 
 

B A further report is provided to the Overview Working Group in six months’ 
time, on progress as detailed in the report. 
 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
1.  As with many other New Towns, Harlow Town Centre has a diverse and 

mixed land/property ownership, with parts in need of regeneration due to 
ageing buildings and public realm. 
 

2.  Regeneration of the town centre is a Council priority and is highlighted as a 
key goal in achieving the Council’s corporate objective, “Regeneration and a 
thriving economy”. 
 

3.  Development is reliant on private sector owners to deliver improvement 
schemes and although this has been positive in some areas of the town 
centre, in others there has been a lack of investment which creates 
inconsistency and a segregation of the whole town centre offer. 
 

4.  Communication and coordination has also been inconsistent over the years, 
leading to a perception of poor engagement and progression. 
  

 
 

 

23

Agenda Item 7



CURRENT PROGRESS 

5.  In recognising that the town centre is in need of regeneration, with no current 
major development in the pipeline and the Council not having control of 
commercial assets, the Council has considered the role it can play in 
coordinating and working with private sector land owners, delivering 
improvements to the public realm, promoting the town centre as a location for 
investment and taking the lead in stakeholder and community engagement.  
 

6.  At the beginning of 2015, a bid to the Council’s Non-housing Capital 
Programme was successful and in addition, the Council set aside £1m for 
town centre regeneration, creating a funding pot of £1.3m.for the town centre. 
 

7.  The aim of the capital programme project is to deliver a number of 
improvements to the public realm in public sector ownership, but 
concentrating on Broad Walk and Market Square. 
 

8.  Specific activities that are being developed and due for delivery from the 
capital project include: 
 

a) New and improved LED street lighting. 
b) New street furniture and signage. 
c) Refurbishment of 21 The Rows. 
d) Improvements to Market Square. 
e) Introduction of open green space and planting. 
f) Installation of public-access Wi-Fi. 
 

9.  In addition, a cross-party working group has been established with 
Councillors, with the aim to provide a platform to lead, coordinate and 
progress the regeneration of the town centre.  
 

10.  The Working Group has developed an action plan detailing activity and 
communication opportunities. The plan focuses on four key objectives: 
 

1. Attracting investment and creating opportunities for residents and 
businesses. 

2. Restoring pride and improving the public realm. 
3. Giving stakeholders a say and working together. 
4. Promoting town centre opportunities to residents, businesses, 

community groups and visitors. 
 

11.  The action plan brings together a variety of short, medium and long term 
activities and actions, aimed at supporting the ongoing regeneration and 
revitalisation of the town centre and incorporates activities from the capital 
programme project. Actions include recruitment of a Town Centre 
Development Coordinator, the review of Harlow Market, re-invigoration of 

24



Harlow Town Centre Partnership and improved communication and 
engagement, commissioning long-term viability and market analysis studies 
and redevelopment options. 
 

12.  Current  action plan activity includes: 
a) Developing the capital programme project. 
b) Appointment of a Town Centre Development Coordinator. 
c) Permanently relocating Harlow Market in Broad Walk North and a 

review of the market operation.   
d) Commission of market analysis study. 

In addition, communication and engagement with land owners and managing 
agents continues and funding is being explored for potential long-term 
redevelopment in town centre north east. 
 

13.  As well as the Council’s role in leading a revitalised town centre, other 
stakeholders are progressing schemes such as Addington Capital, (owners of 
the Harvey Centre and properties in West Square, East Gate and Broad 
Walk), which is progressing proposals to modernise the Harvey Centre and 
redevelop the first floor to include a cinema and brand-new restaurant units. 
It is also redeveloping the former Marks and Spencer unit, which includes the 
sub-division to eight units, incorporating a variety of retail uses, including a 
gym. 
 

14.  In addition, Essex County Council is undertaking improvements which include 
re-surfacing at Playhouse Square and West Square, expanding and 
improving the disabled car park in West Gate, installation of cycle racks and 
improved highway signage. 

 
FUTURE PROGRESS AND ACTIVITY 
 
15.  It is anticipated that the cross-party working group will continue to meet, 

monitor and develop the action plan and look to establish a vision and 
aspiration for the town centre to gain private sector, resident and community 
buy-in, to support sustained and long-term revitalisation of the town centre. 
  

16.  Work will continue to explore and provide an evidence base to pursue long-
term investment and create a masterplan for redevelopment of the town 
centre, including its property and transport infrastructure. Such studies will 
provide the strategy and framework for long-term regeneration, including the 
resources need both in terms of public and private investment. 
 

17.  The Town Centre Development Coordinator will progress re-invigorating the 
Harlow Town Centre Partnership, improve stakeholder (including residents) 
communication and engagement, continue to progress and build on the 
capital programme project and explore development opportunities.  
 

25



18.  Other potential opportunities to be explored include the relocation of the 
Central Library, redevelopment options for the north and eastern areas 
including transport and bus service provision, and improved links with Wych 
Elm and the train station. 
 

19.  In order to recreate cohesion, consistency and restore civic pride, private and 
public sector redevelopment across the whole town centre needs to be 
coordinated and complementary. The Council will continue to provide the 
leadership role in encouraging positive and sustainable redevelopment and 
working with existing and new landowners as necessary to achieve this. 
 

20.  These existing and future approaches should provide the catalyst and step-
change in Harlow’s town centre regeneration, improving the physical and 
social environment, allowing the town centre to meet the current and future 
needs of residents, visitors and businesses. 

 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (includes Sustainability) 

None specific. 

Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place 

 

Finance (Includes ICT) 
Whilst there are no direct financial implications arising as a result of the report 
outside of the existing funding made available for Town Centre Regeneration, 
financial considerations are likely to play a significant part in any future options 
that may be proposed. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance  

 
Housing 

As outlined in the body of the report. 

Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 

 
Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 

Contained within the report. 

Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 

 
Governance (includes HR) 
None specific. 

Author: Brian Keane, Head of Governance 

 

 
Background Papers 
[These are papers referred to in the preparation of the report that are not 
attached as appendices but that are available for public or Councillor study.] 
 

26



None 
 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
None 
 
 

27



 
 

 
Updated 18/02/16 

Cabinet Overview Working Group 
 
Work Plan 2015/16 
 

10 March 2016 
 

Financial Future of Pets Corner (Scoping 
Report) 
 

Jane Greer 

Review of Council Housing Empty 
Property Management 
 

Andrew Murray 

Future of the Town Centre(Update and 
Next Steps) 
 

Jane Greer 

 

28

Agenda Item 8


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Review of Council Housing Empty Property Management
	6 Review of Financial Sustainability of Pets Corner (Scoping Report)
	Appendix A - Draft Terms of Reference for Pets' Corner Working Party

	7 Future of the Town Centre (Update and next steps)
	8 Work Plan

